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Re: 60-Day Notice of Violations of Section 7 of the Endangered Species Act Related to 

the Adverse Impacts to Corals, Manatees, Birds, and Turtles from the San Juan Bay 
Expansion  

 
 This letter serves as El Puente’s, CORALations’, and the Center for Biological 
Diversity’s 60-day notice of intent to sue the Army Corps of Engineers (“Corps”), the Secretary 
of Commerce, the National Marine Fisheries Service (“NMFS”), the Secretary of the Interior and 
the Fish and Wildlife Service (“FWS”) for violations of the Endangered Species Act (“ESA”), 16 
U.S.C. §§ 1531, et seq., related to the agencies’ actions and inactions related to the San Juan 
Harbor, Puerto Rico, Navigation Improvements (“San Juan Bay Expansion”). This massive port 
expansion involves dredging and disposal of more than two million cubic yards of sediment, or 
the equivalent of about 640 Olympic-size swimming pools, to deepen and widen various 
channels to accommodate larger petroleum tankers, larger liquefied natural gas (“LNG”) tankers, 
and future LNG terminals.1  
 
 These activities will worsen the global climate crisis, further Puerto Rico’s dependence 
on imported fossil fuels, and harm the biodiversity that brings tourists to snorkel and swim on its 
beaches and coral reefs. The Corps sought public comment and approved the San Juan Bay 
Expansion during two environmental disasters and their aftermath: Hurricanes Irma and Maria. 
Yet the Corps did not pause its work to assess the lessons learned. The hurricanes damaged an 

 
1 Lt. Gen. Todd T. Semonite, Chief of Engineers, to Congress, Report on San Juan Harbor Navigation 
Improvements Feasibility Study, San Juan, Puerto Rico, dated Aug. 23, 2018. 
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outdated energy infrastructure, which was still weakened five years later.2 Since then, variations 
in voltage have damaged appliances and started fires.3 And recently experts have prepared 
reports showing that a grid powered by rooftop solar and storage would be superior to a gasified 
grid in terms of resiliency and price.4 The claimed environmental and climate benefits from an 
oil-to-gas transition are also extremely questionable. Yet after the hurricanes, in 2018 the Corps 
still approved its project investing in larger-capacity fossil fuel transport and terminals without 
considering the impacts on Puerto Rico’s climate, communities, and conservation of ESA-listed 
species. 
 
 Expanding San Juan Bay’s capacity for more and larger vessels will harm corals, sea 
turtles, manatees, Roseate terns and Yellow-shouldered blackbirds and impede Puerto Rico’s 
transition to renewable energy.5 The FWS and NMFS failed to consider how the San Juan Bay 
Expansion for fossil fuel transport will contribute to climate change. The dredging and transport 
of dredge spoils can kill the seven ESA-listed coral species in and around San Juan Bay. Sea 
turtles and manatees graze on seagrass in San Juan Bay and are at risk of loss of food and 
exposure to contamination from industrial pollution that is resuspended during dredging. Further, 
the larger vessels will increase noise pollution and ship strike risk that can harm manatees and 
sea turtles. The Corps relied on inadequate and unlawful analysis of the impacts to ESA-listed 
species to approve the San Juan Expansion. The Corps and NMFS must reinitiate consultation 
because of new information that reveals effects not previously considered, as discussed in detail 
below. 
 

I. Legal Background 
 

Congress enacted the ESA, in part, to provide a “means whereby the ecosystems upon 
which endangered species and threatened species depend may be conserved...[and] a program for 
the conservation of such endangered species and threatened species.”6  

 
Section 2(c) of the ESA establishes that it is “the policy of Congress that all Federal 

departments and agencies shall seek to conserve endangered species and threatened species and 
shall utilize their authorities in furtherance of the purposes of this Act.”7 The ESA defines 
“conservation” to mean “the use of all methods and procedures which are necessary to bring any 

 
2 María Luisa Paúl, Two major power outages in a week fuel fear in Puerto Rico — and memories of 
Hurricane Maria, Washington Post, June 19, 2021, 
https://www.washingtonpost.com/nation/2021/06/18/puerto-rico-power-outages/ (last visited May 18, 2022). 
3 Id. 
4 Energy Futures Group, Puerto Rico Distributed Energy Resource Integration Study (Feb. 2021) 
https://cambiopr.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Puerto-Rico-Distributed-Energy-Resource-Integration-
Study-Energy-Futures-Group.pdf; see also Letter from R. Santiago to Michael L. Connor, U.S. Army Corps of 
Engineers, Re: United States Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) proposal to dredge San Juan Bay in Puerto 
Rico, dated May 24, 2022. 
5 Puerto Rico Energy Bureau, Final Resolution and Order on the Puerto Rico Electric Power Authority’s 
Integrated Resource Plan, Dkt. No. CEPR-AP-2018-0001 (Aug. 24, 2020) (rejecting rejected the idea of an oil-
to-gas transition in favor of an oil-to-renewables transition), https://energia.pr.gov/wp-
content/uploads/sites/7/2020/08/AP20180001-IRP-Final-Resolution-and-Order.pdf. 
6 Id. § 1531(b). 
7 Id. § 1531(c)(1).  
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endangered species or threatened species to the point at which the measures provided pursuant to 
this Act are no longer necessary.”8  

 
To fulfill the purposes of the ESA, section 9 of the ESA prohibits any person, including 

any federal agency, from “taking” an endangered species without proper authorization.9 The term 
“take” is statutorily defined broadly as “to harass, harm, pursue, hunt, shoot, wound, kill, trap, 
capture, or collect, or to attempt to engage in any such conduct.”10 The definition of “harm” has 
been defined broadly by regulation as “an act which actually kills or injures wildlife. Such act 
may include significant habitat modification or degradation where it actually kills or injures 
wildlife by significantly impairing essential behavioral patterns, including breeding, feeding or 
sheltering.”11  

 
Additionally, under section 7(a)(2) of the ESA, the Corps and NMFS must ensure that 

any action they authorize, fund or carry out is “not likely to jeopardize the continued existence of 
any endangered species.”12 When an agency determines that its proposed action “may affect 
listed species” it must engage in formal consultation with the expert federal wildlife agency 
responsible for the species at issue using “the best scientific and commercial data available.”13  

 
 NMFS must issue a biological opinion explaining how the proposed action will affect the 

ESA-listed species and determine whether jeopardy is likely to occur.14 If jeopardy is found, the 
biological opinion shall suggest “reasonable and prudent alternatives” to the proposed action that 
NMFS believes would avoid the likelihood of jeopardy.15 If NMFS concludes the action may 
take listed members of the population, but the action will not jeopardize the population, the 
agency must produce an Incidental Take Statement that specifies the impact of the action by 
setting a numeric limit on take or a surrogate if a numeric cap is impractical to set, and 
identifying “reasonable and prudent measures” that will minimize impacts, among other 
requirements.16 The take of a listed species in compliance with the terms of a valid Incidental 
Take Statement is not prohibited under section 9 of the ESA.17 

 
ESA regulations define “[j]eopardize the continued existence of” as “to engage in an 

action that reasonably would be expected, either directly or indirectly, to reduce appreciably the 
likelihood of both the survival and recovery of a listed species in the wild by reducing the 
reproduction, numbers, or distribution of that species.”18 A jeopardy analysis requires the agency 
to consider the aggregate effect of past and ongoing human activities that affect the current status 
of the species and its habitat (“environmental baseline”); the indirect and direct effects of the 

 
8 Id. § 1532(3). 
9 Id. § 1538(a)(1)(B). 
10 Id. § 1532(19). 
11 50 C.F.R. § 222.102; see also Babbitt v. Sweet Home Chapter of Cmtys. for a Great Or., 515 U.S. 687 
(1995) (upholding same regulatory definition of harm in 50 C.F.R. § 17.3). 
12 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2). 
13 Id.; 50 C.F.R. § 402.14(a) (2018). 
14 50 C.F.R. § 402.14(g)(3), (4). 
15 16 U.S.C. § 1536(b)(3)(A); 50 C.F.R. §§ 402.14(h), 402.02. 
16 16 U.S.C. § 1536(b)(4)(C); Or. Nat. Res. Council v. Allen, 476 F.3d 1031, 1033 (9th Cir. 2007). 
17 16 U.S.C. §§ 1536(b)(4), (o)(2); 50 C.F.R. § 402.14(i)(5). 
18 50 C.F.R. § 402.02. 
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proposed action, including the effects of interrelated and interdependent activities (“effects of the 
action”); and the effects of future state and private activities that are reasonably certain to occur 
(“cumulative effects”).19 NMFS must consider all of these factors in context of the current status 
of the species and its habitat.20 Only where NMFS concludes that all of these elements added 
together do not threaten a species’ survival and recovery can the agency issue a no-jeopardy 
opinion.21 

 
After consultation is completed, if a biological opinion fails to comply with the ESA’s 

standards, the action agency cannot rely on it to satisfy its section 7 duties.22 Furthermore, the 
action and consulting agencies’ ESA duties do not end with the completion of the initial 
consultation. The agencies must review the ongoing impacts of the action and reinitiate 
consultation when: (a) the amount or extent of taking specified in the incidental take statement is 
exceeded; (b) new information reveals effects of the action that may affect listed species or 
critical habitat in a manner or to an extent not previously considered; (c) if the identified action is 
subsequently modified in a manner that causes an effect to the listed species or critical habitat 
that was not considered in the biological opinion; or (d) if a new species is listed or critical 
habitat designated that may be affected by the identified action.23 “The duty to reinitiate 
consultation lies with both the action agency and the consulting agency.”24 

 
When reinitiation is required, “the original opinion loses its validity, as does its 

accompanying incidental take statement, which then no longer shields the action agency from 
penalties for takings.”25 Finally, during the consultation process and until the requirements of 
section 7(a)(2) are satisfied, ESA section 7(d) provides that an agency “shall not make any 
irreversible or irretrievable commitment of resources” toward an action that would foreclose “the 
formulation or implementation of any reasonable and prudent alternative measures.”26 
 

II. Factual Background 
 

The Corps intends to dredge San Juan Bay in Puerto Rico to widen and deepen the 
navigation channel. San Juan Bay is the principal point of entry for imports and commercial 
vessels to Puerto Rico. The dredging is in part to allow larger LNG carriers to deliver the highly 
volatile fuel to the New Fortress LNG terminal in the southwestern portion of the Bay and for 

 
19 Id. §§ 402.14(g), 402.02. 
20 Id. § 402.14(g). 
21 See Pac. Coast Fed’n of Fishermen’s Ass’n v. U.S. Bureau of Reclamation, 426 F.3d 1082, 1093 (9th Cir. 
2005) (the proper “analysis is not the proportional share of responsibility the federal agency bears for the 
decline in the species, but what jeopardy might result from the agency’s proposed actions in the present and 
future human and natural contexts”). 
22 See, e.g., Fla. Key Deer v. Paulison, 522 F.3d 1133, 1145 (11th Cir. 2008) (action agency must 
independently ensure that its actions are not likely to cause jeopardy); Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe of Indians v. 
U.S. Dep’t of Navy, 898 F.2d 1410, 1415 (9th Cir. 1990) (same); Ctr. for Biological Diversity v. BLM, 422 F. 
Supp. 2d 1115, 1142 (N.D. Cal. 2006) (rejecting Forest Service’s reliance on legally inadequate biological 
opinion).  
23 50 C.F.R. § 402.16 (2018). 
24 Salmon Spawning & Recovery All. v. Gutierrez, 545 F.3d 1220, 1229 (9th Cir. 2008). 
25 Ctr. for Biological Diversity v. BLM, 698 F.3d 1101, 1108 (9th Cir. 2012). 
26 16 U.S.C. § 1536(d); 50 C.F.R.§ 402.09. 
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other fossil fuel deliveries. After a publishing a notice of intent to prepare an environmental 
impact statement,27 in 2018 the Army Corps issued a final Environmental Assessment (“EA”) 
and Finding of No Significant Impact for its proposed project to expand the San Juan Bay 
shipping channel by deepening and widening it. Subsequently, in 2021, the Corps issued a draft 
EA and proposed expanding the dredging and disposing of spoils in Condado Lagoon, 
purportedly as mitigation to fill anerobic manmade holes in the sea floor. 
 

There are several concerns about the project. First, the project will expand shipping and 
its environmental impacts on manatees, corals, and sea turtles and their habitat — including air 
pollution, water pollution, vessel noise and ship strike risks. Second, the project will facilitate 
larger oil and LNG tankers, risking oil spills and deepening fossil fuel dependence. Third, the 
dredging and materials disposal will harm threatened and endangered manatees, corals, and sea 
turtles and their habitat. 
 

The Corps of Engineers and the Puerto Rico Ports Authority signed an agreement May 
24, 2019, to begin the preconstruction, engineering and design phase of the project. The 
Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act of 2022 allocated $45.5 million dollars for the dredging 
project.28 The Corps is scheduled to award the dredging contracts in November 202229 and 
dredging will take 18 months.30  
 

III. The Section 7 Consultations for the Project Are Invalid. 
 

The San Juan Bay Expansion activities are authorized by the May 29, 2018 NMFS 
biological opinion (“Biological Opinion”) and the June 21, 2018 FWS concurrence letter 
(“Letter”). In the Biological Opinion, NMFS determined that the San Juan Bay Expansion was 
not likely to adversely affect seven species of ESA-listed corals and made a no jeopardy 
determination for hawksbill sea turtles, loggerhead sea turtles, and green sea turtles. In the Letter, 
FWS concurred with the Corps’ determination that the activities are not likely to adversely affect 
the Antillean manatee and to our knowledge did not consult on the impacts to the threatened 
Roseate tern and endangered yellow-shouldered blackbird. 

 
NMFS and FWS erred in their determinations that the Corps activities are not likely to 

adversely affect corals and manatees, respectively. Further, NMFS erred in its no jeopardy 

 
27 Intent To Prepare a Draft Feasibility Study and Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) for Navigational 
Improvements to San Juan Harbor in San Juan, Puerto Rico, 80 Fed. Reg. 60,657 (Oct. 7, 2015). 
28 J. Shannon, Assistant Secretary of the Army for Civil Works Visits Projects to Support Puerto Rico 
Resiliency, Mar. 11, 2022, 
https://www.army.mil/article/254623/assistant_secretary_of_the_army_for_civil_works_visits_projects_to_su
pport_puerto_rico_resiliency 
29 Congressional Fact Sheets 2022 / San Juan Harbor PR (C), 
https://www.saj.usace.army.mil/About/Congressional-Fact-Sheets-2022/San-Juan-Harbor-PR-C/; 
Congressional Fact Sheets 2022 / San Juan Harbor (O&M), 
https://www.saj.usace.army.mil/About/Congressional-Fact-Sheets-2022/San-Juan-Harbor-O-M/. 
30 M. Kantrow-Vázquez, $60.5M renovation project at Port of San Juan to improve future energy costs, Jan. 
31, 2022, https://newsismybusiness.com/60-5m-renovation-project-at-port-of-san-juan-to-improve-future-
energy-costs/ (last visited May 23, 2022). 
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determination for sea turtles. FWS unlawfully omitted the Roseate tern and yellow-shouldered 
blackbird from its consultation. 
 

a. NMFS and FWS unlawfully defined the action and truncated its effects 
analysis. 

 
The consulting agencies misleadingly limited the scope and the impacts of the San Juan 

Bay Expansion to the dredging-related activity, truncating the Corps’ description of the project’s 
purpose to accommodate fossil fuel transport and large vessels. The consulting agencies 
unlawfully defined the action as dredging, deepening, and placement of dredged materials rather 
than including the full description of the action, as listed below.31 The Army Corps reported to 
Congress on August 23, 2018, that the recommended plan included deepening and widening: 
 

a. “Deepen Cut-6 of the existing entrance channel . . . to accommodate larger draft LR2 
petroleum tankers and fully-loaded MR2 and LR1 petroleum tankers” 
b. “Widen the Army Terminal Channel . . . to accommodate the larger LR2 tankers and 
liquefied natural gas (LNG) tankers” 
c. “Deepen the inner harbor Anegado and Army Terminal Channels . . . from the 
confluence of Cut-6 to the Army Terminal Turning Basin to petroleum and future LNG 
terminals.” 
d. “Enlarge the northern terminus of the existing Army Terminal Turning Basin with two 
flares. . . . [to] improve maneuverability of the larger class vessels expected to call.” 
e. “Deepen the San Antonio Approach Channel, San Antonio Channel, and the San 
Antonio Channel Extension . . . for the cruise vessel fleet.” 
f. Expand the federal project limits . . . to include an area currently dredged to -36 feet 
MLLW by the Puerto Rico Ports Authority (PRPA) for existing terminal operators.” 
g. “Deepen the Cruise Ship Basin East . . . for turn-and-go operations of cruise vessels.”32 
 

These activities should be included in the agencies’ description of the proposed action because 
the agencies must explain how the proposed action will affect the ESA-listed species. The ESA 
Consultation Handbook states that “a comprehensive project description in the biological opinion 
is vital to determining the scope of the proposed action.”33 Without mention of petroleum 
tankers, LNG tankers, LNG terminals, and cruise ships—all part of the Corps’ described 
proposed action—the agencies’ consultation is unlawful. The Corps’ decision to undertake the 
proposed action depends on the predicted activities that follow. Likewise, the Corps assumes that 
“a conversion to LNG [occurs] only if a Federal navigation project, including widening of Army 
Terminal Channel, is constructed.”34 For these reasons, the definition of the proposed action 
without these components is arbitrary and capricious.  
 

 
31 Biological Opinion at 8. 
32 Lt. Gen. Todd T. Semonite, supra n.1. 
33 ESA Consultation Handbook, p. 4-15 (1998). https://www.fws.gov/endangered/esa-
library/pdf/esa_section7_handbook.pdf.  
34 San Juan Harbor Puerto Rico Integrated Feasibility Report & Environmental Assessment, Aug. 2018, at 4-
17. 
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Case law shows how NMFS’s and FWS’s failure to consider the entire scope of the 
Corps’ project is unlawful. In Wild Fish Conservancy v. Salazar, the Ninth Circuit held FWS’s 
biop on a hatchery was unlawful for failing to properly define the scope of the agency action.35 
In doing so, the court stressed the importance of properly defining the agency action because 
“[t]he delineation of the scope of an action can have a determinative effect on the ability of a 
biological opinion fully to describe the impact of the action on the viability of the [listed] 
species[.]”36 Similarly, the Biological Opinion and Letter were able to reach determinations that 
the Expansion was “not likely to adversely affect” corals and manatees in part by defining the 
action as only the dredging and not the future tankers and terminals. 
 

b. NMFS and FWS failed to analyze the post-dredging impacts of larger vessels 
on sea turtles and manatees such as vessel strikes and noise pollution. 

 
Both the Biological Opinion and the Letter fail to analyze an important source of 

mortality and behavior disturbance for sea turtles and manatees: vessel strikes and noise 
pollution from ships. The Biological Opinion notes that various life stages of green and 
hawksbill sea turtles can be found in nearshore waters in the action area year-round. Similarly, 
manatees are known to transit the action area: during the San Juan Harbor Maintenance Dredging 
Project from April 12, 2017 to July 4, 2017, a total of sixteen (16) Antillean manatees were 
spotted and within the 100 feet perimeter, thirteen (13) individuals were observed.37 In 2006, 
four males and one female adult Antillean manatees were found dead in the San Juan Bay area 
due to a large boat strike.38 In fact, Yet neither NMFS nor FWS analyzed whether vessel traffic 
in San Juan Bay after the deepening and widening will jeopardize sea turtles or manatees. 

 
The FWS mentioned the threat of a post-construction increase in commercial boat traffic 

but did not analyze its impacts to the manatee population. The Letter states that a potential effect 
of the widening and deepening of the San Juan Bay Harbor is “post-construction increase in 
commercial boat traffic.”39 But the FWS failed to acknowledge that watercraft “collision is now 
considered the greatest threat to manatees in Puerto Rican waters.”40 This minimal mention of 
the threat of an increase in boat traffic post-construction means that the NLAA determination 
was not based on a full consideration of the best available science. 
 

c. NMFS failed to define the environmental baseline when assessing the impacts 
to ESA-listed sea turtles. 

 
The ESA requires that NMFS properly define the “environmental baseline” as an integral 

aspect of conducting a lawful jeopardy analysis in a Biological Opinion. ESA regulations define 
the environmental baseline as “refer[ing] to the condition of the listed species or its designated 
critical habitat in the action area, without the consequences to the listed species or designated 

 
35 Wild Fish Conservancy v. Salazar, 628 F.3d 513 (9th Cir. 2010). 
36 Id. at 522. 
37 FWS Coordination Act Report (“CAR”) at 20. 
38 Id. at 19. 
39 Letter at 1. 
40 Endangered and Threatened Wildlife and Plants; Reclassification of the West Indian Manatee From 
Endangered to Threatened, 82 Fed. Reg.16,668, 16,673 (Apr. 5, 2017). 
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critical habitat caused by the proposed action.”41 As explained by the ESA Consultation 
Handbook, “[t]he environmental baseline is a ‘snapshot’ of a species’ health at a specified point 
in time.”42  
 

Here, the Biological Opinion fails to clearly or accurately describe the current “snapshot” 
of species health. Most obviously, NMFS failed to consider other human activities in the action 
area that increase risk to sea turtles. While the Biological Opinion extensively lists incidental sea 
turtle take in commercial fisheries, it does not it quantify the number of sea turtles killed in other 
dredging projects in the region. Nor does it include a specific accounting of other Corps-
permitted activities in Puerto Rico that contribute to impacts to sea turtles, like building sea 
walls. This is especially concerning because Puerto Rico has one of two primary nesting sites for 
the endangered hawksbill sea turtle, making it important for the conservation of the species. 

 
d. FWS failed to consider project impacts on nesting sea turtles as part of the 

effects of the action. 
 
FWS’s Letter notes that the Corps’ biological assessment did not include a determination 

for federally listed nesting sea turtles that may occur in the San Juan Bay, even though small 
pocket beaches could provide suitable nesting habitat for sea turtles and hatchlings have been 
found in the Bay.43 The FWS’s explanation that “the proposed project action area is well outside 
these potential nesting areas” does not suffice because of the dredging’s proximity to these 
pocket beaches. FWS failed to properly define the geographic scope of the action area. 

 
Further, FWS failed to consider the direct impact from dredging on these beaches. 

Dredging changes the wave energy and hydrodynamics of estuaries, which can have long-term 
impacts to sediment accumulation and erosion.44 This has the potential to alter the suitability of 
sea turtle nesting habitat. In addition, the Letter fails to consider that leatherback and hawksbill 
sea turtle nesting has been reported along the beach area within the Condado Lagoon, which is 
within the action area for the proposed beneficial use disposal.45 Finally, deepening and 
widening the channels to allow larger ships increases the risk of ship strikes near sea turtle 
nesting beaches. 
 

e. NMFS and FWS unlawfully relied on speculative future mitigation measures. 
 

 Both NMFS and FWS improperly relied on speculative future mitigation measures. 
NMFS arbitrarily determined the project was not likely to adversely affect all seven species of 
corals in the action area by relying on unspecified mitigation measures. NMFS explains that 
sedimentation from the project could have significant negative impacts to corals including 
smothering corals, reducing feeding, and depleting energy reserves that leads to lower 

 
41 50 C.F.R. § 402.02.  
42 ESA Consultation Handbook, p. 4-22 (1998). https://www.fws.gov/endangered/esa-
library/pdf/esa_section7_handbook.pdf.  
43 FWS CAR at 17. 
44 M.M. Nichols, Consequences of Dredging, Ch. 17 in Kjerfve, B., 2018. Hydrodynamics of Estuaries: 
Volume II Estuarine Case Studies. CRC Press. 
45 Compare Biological Opinion at 43. 
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calcification rates and reproductive output.46 To ensure these impacts do not occur, NMFS states 
that the Army Corps “will conduct” turbidity monitoring according to a plan that “will be 
developed” and include monitoring stations adjacent to ESA-listed corals “if any are found 
during the resource surveys” that the Corps plans to do prior to construction.47 Further, the 
“monitoring plan with a 7 [Nephelometric Turbidity Units (NTU)] over background threshold is 
the basis for NMFS’ discountable finding” and if the plan is not completed prior to construction 
or turbidity persists above this threshold near an ESA listed coral, “reinitiation would be 
required.”48  
 
 The issue here is that the Biological Opinion finds that corals may be present in the action 
area and negatively impacted by sediments but contains only speculative monitoring that may 
lead to unspecified future mitigation measures and no incidental take statement. The only reason 
NMFS found this impact to be “discountable,” was to assume a future monitoring plan and 
turbidity threshold would be in place that could trigger unspecified mitigation measures. This is 
unlawful because an agency may only consider mitigation measures when those are the result of 
“specific and binding plans” and show “a clear, definite commitment of resources.”49 It was 
premature for NMFS to reach a not likely to adversely affect determination without knowing 
whether a turbidity monitoring plan will be in place before construction, and if a plan is in place, 
where in the action area the monitoring stations will be located.  
 

Like for corals, the FWS’s not likely to adversely affect determination for manatees was 
dependent on the Corps implementing a long list of conservation measures. These measures were 
neither agreed to by the Corps nor binding. While the Letter states that the Corps’ biological 
assessment included “some measures to avoid and minimize potential effects on the Antillean 
manatee,” it does not enumerate these. Nor does the Letter indicate that the Corps agreed to the 
project-specific measures that FWS provided to address potential adverse effects on the manatee. 
Thus the Letter’s conclusion is arbitrary and capricious and in violation of the ESA. 

 
f. NMFS and FWS failed to consider the impact of light pollution from dredging 

activity on birds, sea turtles, and corals. 
 
 Lighting of dredging vessels has the potential to disrupt ESA-listed birds, sea turtles, and 
corals. The Corps’ required level of lighting for outside work on board dredge vessels can alter 
bird behavior, cause corals to be more susceptible to bleaching, and disorient sea turtles 
approaching nesting beaches and sea turtle hatchlings finding their way seaward. 
 
 Numerous gulls, terns, pelicans, and frigate birds use San Juan Bay.50 Increases in 
artificial lighting that shift natural light regimes alters birds’ behavior, community composition, 

 
46 Id. at 17. 
47 Id. 
48 Id. 
49 Nat’l Wildlife Fed’n v. Nat’l Marine Fisheries Serv., 524 F.3d 917, 936 (9th Cir. 2008). 
50 FWS CAR at 11, 13 (stating that navigation projects have all but eliminated the Puerto Nuevo tidal flat area, 
which is habitat for sea bird and wading bird populations, but La Esperanza Peninsula has become habitat). 
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and more.51 In Puerto Rico, light can have a substantial impact on the fitness of the threatened 
Roseate tern (Sterna dougallii dougallii) and yellow-shouldered blackbird (Agelaius xanthomus) 
by changing the birds’ behavior, such as by extending foraging time and sexual competition into 
night, improvement in prey detection and predator avoidance capabilities, and changes in 
navigation capacity.52 Artificial light disorients birds; anthropogenic light acts as a strong false 
orientation cue that can trap or mislead birds.53 Visual pigments of migratory birds are bleached 
by artificial light, causing them to lose sight of the horizon.54 This can result in exhaustion or 
collision with the light source.55 Artificial light can also cause the deviation of birds away from 
the correct migration routes towards harmful urban landscapes at night, as evinced by the large 
numbers of bird deaths due to collisions with illuminated structures every year.56 
 
 Corals also display sensitivity to artificial light sources. One study investigating 
physiological interactions of two corals exposed to artificial light at night revealed that artificial 
light at night spurred oxidative stress condition in the corals, lowered photosynthesis 
performance, and altering chlorophyll and algae density parameters.57 Another study showed 
negative impacts on coral reproduction—artificial light at night was shown to have a significant 
effect on the gametogenesis and the synchronization of gamete release in two prominent coral 
species from the Indo-Pacific Ocean.58 The findings showed that the gametogenesis cycle of both 
coral species was delayed or masked by exposure to artificial light, leading to unsynchronized 
gamete release.59 In the Elkhorn and Staghorn Coral Recovery Plan, in its action item related to 
temperature stress, NMFS acknowledges that high light exposure interacts with warm water to 
trigger mass bleaching events.60 
 
 NMFS addresses light pollution impacts to ESA-listed species in sea turtle Recovery 
Plans too. The Hawksbill Recovery Plan discusses the dual harm of artificial lights on sea 
turtles—deterrence of nesting females and disorientation of emerging hatchlings—under its 
“Threats – Nesting Environment” section.61 The Leatherback Recovery Plan replicates the 
language in the Hawksbill plan, but elaborates on the disorientation issue, noting that 
disorientation via light is not limited to hatchlings, but that adult Leatherbacks have been 

 
51 Dutta, Himangshu. “Insights into the impacts of four current environmental problems on flying birds.” 
Energy, Ecology and Environment 2.5: 329-349 (2017). 
52 Id. 
53 Id., quoting Verheijen, 1985. 
54 Id. 
55 Id., quoting Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission. 
56 Id. 
57 Ayalon, Inbal, et al. “Red Sea corals under Artificial Light Pollution at Night (ALAN) undergo oxidative 
stress and photosynthetic impairment.” Global change biology 25.12: 4194-4207 (2019). 
58 Ayalon, Inbal, et al. “Coral gametogenesis collapse under artificial light pollution.” Current Biology 31.2: 
413-419 (2021). 
59 Id. 
60 National Marine Fisheries Service. 2015. Recovery Plan for Elkhorn (Acropora palmata) and Staghorn (A. 
cervicornis) Corals. Prepared by the Acropora Recovery Team for the National Marine Fisheries Service, 
Silver Spring, Maryland: ix. 
61 National Marine Fisheries Service and U.S. Fish and. Wildlife Service. 1993. Recovery Plan for Hawksbill 
Turtles in the U.S. Caribbean Sea, Atlantic Ocean, and Gulf of Mexico. National Marine Fisheries Service, St. 
Petersburg, Florida. 
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documented to have died following anthropogenic light into unsafe locations, such as roads.62 
All of these concerns apply to the San Juan Bay Expansion because of its proximity to suitable 
sea turtle nesting habitat.63 
 

IV. Legal Violation: The Corps Unlawfully Relied on the Flawed Biological Opinion 
and Letter. 

 
The Corps is in violation of section 7(a)(2) of the ESA. Pursuant to section 7(a)(2), the 

Corps is required to “insure” that any of its actions are “not likely to jeopardize the continued 
existence of any endangered . . . species,” including sea turtles, corals, and manatees, “or result 
in the destruction or adverse modification of [their critical] habitat.”64 NMFS’s not likely to 
adversely affect determination for corals and their critical habitat, its no jeopardy decision for sea 
turtles, and FWS’s not likely to adversely affect determination for manatees are legally flawed 
for the reasons described above, among others. As such, these decisions do not ensure against the 
likelihood of jeopardy of sea turtles, corals, or manatees or adverse modification or destruction 
of their critical habitat. 

 
By relying on the Biological Opinion and Letter to support the project, the Corps is 

failing to ensure its actions will avoid the likelihood of jeopardy to sea turtles, corals, manatees, 
Roseate terns, and yellow-shouldered blackbirds, or avoid the likelihood of the destruction or 
adverse modification of their critical habitat.65 Therefore, the Corps has violated, and continues 
to violate, section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.66 
 

V. Legal Violation: The Corps and NMFS Must Reinitiate Consultation. 
 
The Corps and NMFS are also violating section 7 of the ESA for their failure to reinitiate 

consultation because new information “reveals effects of the action that may affect listed species 
or critical habitat in a manner or to an extent not previously considered.”67 New information 
about the devastating impacts of climate change on coral reefs and the synergistic impacts from 
dredging has triggered the agencies’ duties to reinitiate consultation. Thus, the agencies’ duties 
to reinitiate consultation is triggered.68 

 
NMFS and the Corps must reinitiate consultation on both the San Juan Bay Expansion 

the placement of dredge spoils in Condado Lagoon.69 The dredging in San Juan Bay and the 

 
62 National Marine Fisheries Service and U.S. Fish and. Wildlife Service. 1992. Recovery Plan for Leatherback 
Turtles in the U.S. Caribbean Sea, Atlantic Ocean, and Gulf of Mexico. National Marine Fisheries Service, 
Washington, D.C. 
63 FWS CAR at 17 (“Sea turtles enter into San Juan Bay and although there are not documented records of sea 
turtle nesting, hatchlings have been found in the bay, and there are several sand beach areas in Esperanza, Isla 
Cabra and other small pocket beaches that are suitable habitat for nesting.”). 
64 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2). 
65 Id.; see also, e.g., Wild Fish Conservancy v. Salazar, 628 F.3d 513, 532 (9th Cir. 2010). 
66 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2). 
67 50 C.F.R. § 402.16(b). 
68 16 U.S.C. § 1536; 50 C.F.R. § 402.16. 
69 NMFS. 2014. Endangered Species Act -Section 7 Consultation. Concurrence with USACE determination for 
ecosystem restoration of Condado Lagoon, SER 2013-10961. 



12 
 

placement of dredge spoils in Condado Lagoon threaten to resuspend sediments that harm corals. 
Condado Lagoon is critical habitat for Acropora coral (elkhorn and staghorn) and proposed 
critical habitat for the boulder star coral Orbicella franksi.70 Further, the Environmental 
Protection Agency, the National Park Service, and the National Oceanic and Atmospheric 
Administration (“NOAA”) have helped support coral reef restoration in Condado Lagoon. In 
2009, NOAA was the lead agency in establishing the Condado Coral Trail Project, which 
includes underwater trails with reef modules.71 In 2011, EPA settled a water pollution case 
against hotel developers to deploy an additional 30 reef modules to further enhance the wildlife 
and fisheries value of the Condado Lagoon.72 From 2011-2012, the Army Corps relocated coral 
during the construction for Fort San Geronimo, which is in Condado Lagoon.73 This multi-
agency participation in coral restoration in Condado Lagoon shows the importance of NMFS’s 
role as consulting agency in protecting the federal interest in safeguarding threatened corals. 
 

New science about the negative impacts of climate change to corals should be considered 
by the Corps both because the dredging’s purpose is to accommodate larger tankers going to 
petroleum and future LNG terminals and because the dredging and dredge spoil transport cause 
suspended sediments and attenuated light levels, which may have a synergistic effect with ocean 
warming to cause bleaching. The horrific extent of coral damage from climate change continues 
to be unveiled; as of 2021, scientists predict that per 10 and 5 years, over 93% and 85% of coral 
reefs, respectively, will experience bleaching conditions at least once.74 The authors conclude 
that “saving coral reefs will require rapidly reducing and eliminating greenhouse gas 
emissions.”75 NMFS and the Corps must reinitiate consultation on the San Juan Bay Expansion 
because of its purposes related to continued fossil fuel use.  
 

The direct impact of suspended sediment from both Hurricane Irma and Maria and 
dredging should be considered in light of new science too. Hurricane Maria’s 24-hour rainfall 
intensity was the highest for any tropical cyclone in Puerto Rico since 1898.76 Sediment reaching 
the coast from runoff causes increased light attenuation and can smother corals.77 NOAA 
scientists found that after the storms, “regions around Puerto Rico experienced extreme and 
prolonged levels of pollution exceeding established thresholds for coastal and open ocean areas 
that contain coral and seagrass habitats.”78 The Corps and NMFS should reinitiate consultation 

 
70 50 C.F.R. § 402.10. 
71 Morris J. Berman Restoration Projects, 2009 Annual Report. 
72 EPA Newsroom, EPA Reaches Agreement with Hotel Developers to Settle Violations of Clean Water Act; 
Developers of the Condado Duo Hotel Complex to Expand Artificial Reef in Condado Lagoon, Dec. 16, 2011. 
73 Letter from James Saggs, Army Corps, to Andrew Coburn, National Park Service, regarding a request for 
updated project information for Fort San Geronimo related to corals, dated June 26, 2012, contained in the 
National Park Service’s Special Resource Study/ Boundary Study Fort San Geronimo and other related 
resources, Sept. 2016. 
74 Kalmus, P., et al. Past the precipice? Projected coral habitability under global heating. Earth's Future, 
p.e2021EF002608 (2021). 
75 Id. 
76 Hernández, W.J., et al. Quantifying the effects of Hurricanes Irma and María on coastal water quality in 
Puerto Rico using moderate resolution satellite sensors. Remote Sensing, 12(6), p.964 (2020). 
77 Id. 
78 Id. at 13. 
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because of the new science quantifying the storms’ impacts. Dredging adds sediment to the 
pollution load.  

 
In addition, Fisher et al. (2019) used data from a large-scale dredging project undertaken 

on the reefs around Barrow Island in north Western Australia and found that any reductions in 
mortality associated with reduced bleaching – should the climate change impacts be mitigated – 
may be outweighed by increased coral mortality from severe low light periods and high levels of 
sediment deposition from dredging.79 The impacts become greater than what would occur 
independently from each threat. This synergistic effect of global thermal anomalies and local 
dredging activities has been reported on coral reefs of the Maldives too.80 Because of this 
synergy, scientists have recommended that dredging programs should include measurements of 
light availability as a key pressure-parameter.81 
 

New information regarding sediment plumes from the dredging of Miami Harbor 
warrants reinitiation of consultation on the San Juan Bay Expansion because the impacts were 
vastly larger than predicted, as assessed by remote sensing of the sediment plume.82 In Miami, 
the Corps underestimated effects in terms of the “(1) geographic area, by one to two orders of 
magnitude; (2) severity, with hundreds of thousands to millions of corals either partially or 
totally killed, including those listed as threatened on the Endangered Species Act; and (3) 
permanence, lasting at least two years post-dredging.”83 The assessment after dredging indicated 
that remotely-sensed plumes (i.e. pictures by Google Earth satellites) calibrated against in situ 
monitoring data can reliably estimate the magnitude and extent of the impacts.  

 
New information about the impacts to coral from dredging Honolulu Harbor also 

indicates that the impacts might be greater than considered by NMFS. In February 2022, while 
planning maintenance dredging in Honolulu Harbor, Hawaii, the Corps canceled its plans to 
relocate coral a month before dredging, causing the state to scramble to relocate the coral at its 
expense.84 The Hawaii Department of Land and Natural Resources said that the Corps 
“considered damage to these coral colonies, some exceeding five feet in diameter, would be 
minimal and planned to proceed with dredging the channel without offering any mitigative 
action to move the corals.”85 Divers rescued the corals at a cost to the state of $40,000.86 The 
Hawaii Legislature subsequently publicly disagreed with the Corps, stating  

 

 
79 Fisher, R., et al. Synergistic and antagonistic impacts of suspended sediments and thermal stress on corals. 
Nature communications, 10(1), pp.1-9 (2019). 
80 Pancrazi, I., et al. Synergic effect of global thermal anomalies and local dredging activities on coral reefs of 
the Maldives. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 160, p.111585 (2020). 
81 Luter, H.M., et al. Assessing the risk of light reduction from natural sediment resuspension events and 
dredging activities in an inshore turbid reef environment. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 170, p.112536 (2021). 
82 Cunning, R., et al. Extensive coral mortality and critical habitat loss following dredging and their association 
with remotely-sensed sediment plumes. Marine pollution bulletin, 145, pp.185-199 (2019). 
83 Id. 
84 DLNR News Release: Divers Save Coral from Honolulu Harbor Channel Dredging Project, Feb. 4, 2022, 
https://governor.hawaii.gov/newsroom/dlnr-news-release-divers-save-coral-from-honolulu-harbor-channel-
dredging-project/. 
85 Id. 
86 Id. 



14 
 

BE IT RESOLVED by the Senate of the Thirty-first Legislature of 
the State of Hawaii, Regular Session of 2022, that this body 
disagrees with the United States Army Corps of Engineers’ finding 
that destruction of at least seventy coral colonies is considered to 
be a minimal individual or cumulative adverse effect on the 
environment; and 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the United States Army Corps 
of Engineers is strongly urged to update the Corps’ analysis for 
“individual or cumulative adverse effects” to accurately account 
for the immense ecological value of corals in Hawaii;87 
 

This disagreement over the ecological value of coral was not the first problem with the dredging 
project. In May 2021, the FWS discovered that a large area of corals were damaged from the 
dredging activity.88 The damage stretched for at least 17,500 square yards.89 This underscores the 
high likelihood of the San Juan Bay Expansion dredging and dredge spoil disposal activity to 
harm corals. 
 

Once the Corps and NMFS have reinitiated consultation, section 7(d) of the ESA 
provides that the agency “shall not make any irreversible or irretrievable commitment of 
resources with respect to the agency action which has the effect of foreclosing the formulation or 
implementation of any reasonable and prudent alternative measures which would not violate 
subsection (a)(2) of this section.” 90 Section 7(d) prohibitions remain in effect throughout the 
consultation period and until NMFS has satisfied its obligations under section 7(a)(2) that the 
action will not result in jeopardy to the species. Allowing the Corps to proceed with any 
dredging operations during the pendency of reinitiated consultation would also constitute a 
violation of section 7(d).  
 

VI. Legal Violation: Conference on proposed coral critical habitat 
 

The ESA requires that the Corps confer with NMFS on the San Juan Bay Expansion’s 
impact on proposed critical habitat for the coral Orbicella franksi.91 The Federal Register notice 
for the proposed critical habitat states that dredging for navigation purposes and in-water 
placement of dredge spoils can cause sediments to enter the reef environment.92 

 

 
87 Strongly Urging The United States Army Corps Of Engineers To Work With The Department Of Land And 
Natural Resources To Mitigate Negative Impacts To Corals And Other Important Coral Reef Resources While 
Dredging In State Waters., Hawaii S.R. 194, https://legiscan.com/gaits/subject/359602. 
88 Hawaii News Now, State investigates after dredging work in Honolulu Harbor damages huge area of coral, 
https://www.hawaiinewsnow.com/2021/05/13/state-investigating-after-dredging-work-honolulu-harbor-
damages-huge-area-coral/ 
89 Id. 
90 16 U.S.C. § 1536(d); 50 C.F.R.§ 402.09. 
91 50 C.F.R. § 402.10. 
92 Endangered and Threatened Species; Critical Habitat for the Threatened Caribbean Corals, 85 Fed. Reg. 
76302, 76307 (Nov. 27, 2020). 
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Figure 1. Location of San Juan Harbor Dredged Material Disposal Site and proposed critical habitat boundaries for 
Orbicella franksi as dashed line (0.5-90 m depth). Source: Corps, Site Management and Monitoring Plan for Puerto 

Rico Dredged Material Disposal Sites DRAFT Apr.12, 2022. 

Because of the relatively shallow depths that the coral inhabits (less than 90 m), human activities 
like dredging combined with natural factors (e.g., major storm events), “significantly affect 
habitat for all life stages for these threatened corals.”93 
 

VII. Conclusion 
 
For the foregoing reasons, if the Corps, FWS, and NMFS do not correct these violations 

of the ESA within 60 days, the Center intends to file suit under the ESA’s citizen suit 
provision.94 The magnitude of the San Juan Bay Expansion and its significant impacts require an 
adequate analysis of impacts and alternatives. The Puerto Rico Energy Bureau or the Federal 
Energy Regulatory Commission, or both, may put an end to LNG imports and gas use in San 
Juan Bay, negating a main reason for the San Juan Bay dredging project.95 Without an 
Environmental Impact Statement or lawful ESA consultation, the significant impacts of the San 
Juan Bay Expansion project—including impacts to the communities that live around the Bay—
have been unlawfully approved. We urge the Corps, FWS, and NMFS to contact us regarding 
this letter to discuss options for avoiding litigation or to provide us with any information we may 
not have that is relevant to your ESA consultation duties with respect to corals, sea turtles, 
manatees, Roseate terns, Yellow-shouldered blackbirds and the San Juan Bay Expansion. Thank 
you for your prompt attention to this matter. 
 

 
93 Id. 76312-13. 
94 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g). 
95 Puerto Rico Energy Bureau, Final Resolution and Order on the Puerto Rico Electric Power Authority’s 
Integrated Resource Plan, Dkt. No. CEPR-AP-2018-0001 (Aug. 24, 2020) (rejecting rejected the idea of an oil-
to-gas transition in favor of an oil-to-renewables transition), https://energia.pr.gov/wp-
content/uploads/sites/7/2020/08/AP20180001-IRP-Final-Resolution-and-Order.pdf. 
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Sincerely,  
 
 
 
 
 
Catherine Kilduff 
Senior Attorney 
Center for Biological Diversity 
ckilduff@biologicaldiversity.org 
 


